
Page 1



 

 13 

Planning Board Members in Attendance: 

Staff Members in Attendance: 

Members of the Public in Attendance: 

These minutes were amended 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Chairman R. Starodoj called the meeting to order at 7:00pm and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

ADMINISTRATIVE 

Approval of Minutes from November 17th, 2022 

Motion made by N. Talbot to approve the minutes as submitted from Thursday, November 17, 2022. Seconded by 
E. Murphy.  There was no additional discussion.

R. Starodoj Aye 
N. Talbot Aye 
E. Murphy Aye 

Rick Starodoj Chair 
Nancy Talbot Vice Chair 
Ken Crosby 
Ed Murphy 
Chris DiMarzio Absent 
Elizabeth 
Hancock 

Alternate 

Rob Watchilla PCD Department Director 
Anna Marques Building Commissioner/Zoning Officer 
Kristen Jacobsen PCD Dept. Admin. Assistant 
Nancy Talbot Town Clerk 
Stuart Beckley Town Manager 

Jennifer Knight Sadie Milner 
Ira Cameron Barbara Swiercz 
Donald Frydryk Tony Swiercz 
Karen Hubaz Kathleen Knight 

Josh Kusnierk 

TOWN OF WARE 
Planning & Community Development 

126 Main Street, Ware, Massachusetts 01082 
t. 413.967.9648 ext. 120

Planning Board 
Meeting Minutes from 

Thursday, December 1st, 2022 
Selectboard Meeting Room 

126 Main Street, Ware MA 01082 

Page 2



Planning Board Meeting Minutes from 12/1/2022, Page 2 
 

K. Crosby Aye 
C. DiMarzio Absent 

Four in favor. One 
Absent Approved 4/0/1. 

 
 

 
 
ANR-2022-12 (252 Belchertown Road) 

• Board will vote to decided that their approval is not required under the Subdivision Control Law 
 
R. Watchilla reviewed the site plan with the board and explained that the redrawing of this property line 
will help the parcel conform although the structure will remain non-conforming.  
 

Motion made by E. Murphy to approve ANR-2022-12 (252 Belchertown Road). Seconded by N. Talbot.  There 
was no additional discussion.              

R. Starodoj Aye 
N. Talbot Aye 
E. Murphy Aye 
K. Crosby Aye 
C. DiMarzio Absent 

Four in favor. One 
Absent Approved 4/0/1. 

 
 

 
 

Public Hearing SP-2022-10- Bond Construction – 219 Babcock Tavern Road 
  
E. Hancock recused herself  
  
R. Starodoj read the legal notice. 
 
K. Hubaz spoke to the board and introduced the engineer D. Frydryk. D. Frydryk gave a presentation 
detailing the scope of the project. R. Watchilla read the permit summary and the comments submitted 
from Conservation Agent John Prenosil. The Building Department advised that the project encroaches 
on the 50’ set back which the proponent said was for grading aesthetics and topography. The board 
asked for clarification on the amount of earth being removed (194,500 cubic yards) and the hours of 
operation which K. Hubacz stated that it is listed as Monday through Saturday from 7am-5pm. No earth 
removal or hauling would be done on Saturday as that day would only be for equipment maintenance. 
The Planning Board then opened the Public Hearing for public comments. Abutter E. Hancock spoke of 
her concerns with the project and stated she had consulted with an engineer who marked issues on the 
site plan. D. Frydryk inquired as to the name of the engineer, E. Hancock refused to provide the name 
and stated she was representing herself. 
                 

• 50’ Buffer on her property line was left unmarked 
• Questions chain-link fence surrounding property. R. Starodoj replied that it was not a chain-link 

fence, E.     Hancock stated as per the legend on the plan it is noted as a chain-link fence. 
• The plan does not show limits of work 
• No waiver provided in Zoning Bylaw for the 50’ buffer and will not agree to one. 
• Stated her tree roots would be harmed if setback is encroached 

Page 3



Planning Board Meeting Minutes from 12/1/2022, Page 3 

• Stated an area is not buildable
• Erosion control would need to be moved to stay away from the 50’ buffer
• Silt Fence is not identified
• Limit of work needs to have a permanent visual marker to indicate the buffer zone
• Monitoring wells are marked with an incorrect symbol
• Well #1 should match the depth of well #4
• Groundwater should be monitored
• Water shoving toward her property
• Questioned former loam pile on plan
• What is volume and quality of loam? (R. Starodoj stated a certain amount needs to be put down at

closure)
• Site is active as trees have been removed and access road cut.
• Lack of forestry permit
• Lack of S.W.P.P.P (Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan)
• C.A.D. could show that less material could be removed to complete the project
• Questioned activity of site as Bond had not been present there in over a year (E. Hancock

indicated an area on the site plan) K. Hubaz responded that they are waiting on permitting and
are holding.

• Stabilization measures should have been initiated 14-days after activity has temporarily ceased
(E. Hancock indicated an area on the site plan).

K. Hubaz reiterated that Conservation had visited the site and the agent had no issues with the site as it
was as it is sloped accordingly and there is no runoff due to the permeability of the material.

• E. Hancock stated that a SWPPP would be needed  and a waiver would need to be filed with
the EPA to avoid doing so

• The authorization form is not signed for 240 Babcock Tavern Road
• Issue with Bond being the applicant not the owner.
• Cited that during the site walk on October 19, 2019, R. Starodoj had commented that the owner

should get the permit as well as during a Planning Board meeting on August 6, 2020, where the board
stated the owner should get the permit. R. Starodoj stated that the property owner can designate
representative. E. Hancock responded that was not in the bylaw.   R. Watchilla said that he believed that
under State Law the applicant could be designated, R. Starodoj asked for that to be checked.

• E. Hancock stated all trees along buffer were cut (property owners stated no). July 16, 2020, Selectmen T.
Barnes had asked if there would be a tree buffer.  J. Knight answered by saying that existing trees would
be kept in place to act as a buffer. E. Hancock stated the only buffer was her trees and whatever
brush/vegetation that is currently growing after the cutting.

• Would like a silt fence, shrubs or trees to block noise.
• Stated best practice would have been to process 3-acres at a time.
• R. Starodoj stated whether there was a gravel operation or not they were allowed to cut their own trees
• E. Hancock stated she has lost her privacy
• K. Knight stated they were her trees
• S. Beckley mentioned that maybe the board might consider adding a condition that a buffer be made. R.

Starodoj said that was typically what they do.
• K. Hubaz mentioned there was a berm between their excavation work and the abutter property. E.

Hancock   said she can hear the work and it’s very noisy.
• E. Hancock stated she has lost her privacy and the enjoyment of her property.

Page 4



Planning Board Meeting Minutes from 12/1/2022, Page 4 
 

• R. Watchilla provided research into an earlier point regarding which name is allowed to be on the permit. 
M.G.L. Ch. 40A section 11 says the permit is awarded to the owner and the applicant if its other than the 
owner.  

• E. Hancock spoke of the timeline of the removal operation and the potential downsides of the 
property owner not being named on the permit application 

• The property owners spoke stating there was a buffer of Pine trees. 
• D. Frydryk addressed points made by E. Hancock stating there was no proposed chain-link 

fence and what is labeled on the plan is a limit of work, the waddles and silt fence are on the 
plan, limit of work, the depth of the wells, and monitoring groundwater.  

• R. Starodoj spoke about the plan and items he would like to see added to it 
• D. Frydryk addressed the depth and separation of the wells, the loam, the SWPPP 
• E. Hancock spoke of the water conditions and well water testing, additions to the plans that 

would be helpful 
• R. Starodoj said a cross section of an area from the ‘k’ in Babcock to the northeastern corner near the 

detention basin and one from the house to the well 3 area would be helpful 
• E. Hancock questioned the maximum number of trucks per day. K. Hubaz answered that it 

would be approximately 5 trucks with approximately 4-5 loads each 
• E. Hancock questioned how fuel spills would be addressed on the property 
• E. Hancock inquired what the community benefit would be. K. Hubaz spoke stating earth removal 

operations benefit the community in many ways, providing aggregates for many projects. 
• E. Hancock spoke of her experience and familiarity within the gravel industry. 

 
 
Recess 
  

• E. Hancock inquired about liability insurance 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Motion by N. Talbot to continue the Public Hearing to January 5, 2023, at 7:30pm in the Selectmen’s 
Meeting Room at Town Hall. Seconded by E. Murphy. The board clarified no additional abutters notices 
are required for the continuance of a Public Hearing. 
 

R. Starodoj Aye 
N. Talbot Aye 
E. Murphy Aye 
K. Crosby Aye 
C. DiMarzio Absent 

Four in favor. One 
Absent Approved 4/0/1. 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 5



Planning Board Meeting Minutes from 12/1/2022, Page 5 
 

 

Minutes Approved on: ________________ 
 
Starodoj  ____________________________ 
 
Murphy   ____________________________ 
 
Talbot   ____________________________ 
 
Crosby   ____________________________ 
 
DiMarzio ____________________________ 
 

Motion made by E. Murphy to table the review of the subdivision regulations until December 15, 2022.  
Seconded by N. Talbot. No additional discussion.  
 

R. Starodoj Aye 
N. Talbot Aye 
E. Murphy Aye 
K. Crosby Aye 
C. DiMarzio Absent 

Four in favor. One 
Absent Approved 4/0/1. 

 
 

 
 
Motion made by E. Murphy to adjourn the meeting at 8:40pm.  Seconded by N. Talbot. No additional 
discussion. 
 

R. Starodoj Aye 
N. Talbot Aye 
E. Murphy Aye 
K. Crosby Aye 
C. DiMarzio Absent 

Four in favor. One 
Absent Approved 4/0/1. 

 
 

  
 

NEXT PLANNING BOARD MEETING DATE: 
 
Thursday, December 15thth, at 7:00pm. 

 
 
Minutes from Thursday, December 1st, 2022. 
 
Respectfully submitted by,  
 
Kristen Jacobsen 
Administrative Assistant 
Planning & Community Development 
  
 
 
 

 
 

Page 6



  

 13 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Planning Board Members in Attendance:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Staff Members in Attendance:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
                            
 
 
Members of the Public in Attendance:                  
 
                                                                             
 
 
 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
Chairman R. Starodoj called the meeting to order at 7:00pm and led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
 
ADMINISTRATIVE 
 
 Approval of Minutes from December 1, 2022 
 
 
Motion made by N. Talbot to approve the minutes as submitted from Thursday, December 1, 2022. Seconded by E. 
Murphy.   
 

Rick Starodoj Chair 
Nancy Talbot Vice Chair 
Ken Crosby Absent 
Ed Murphy Remote 
Chris DiMarzio  
Elizabeth 
Hancock 

Alternate 

Rob Watchilla PCD Department Director 
Kristen Jacobsen PCD Dept. Admin. Assistant 
  
  
  

David Oles 
Kaily Hepburn 
Dan Deliger 

 

  
  
  
  

TOWN OF WARE 
Planning & Community Development 

126 Main Street, Ware, Massachusetts 01082 
t. 413.967.9648 ext. 120 

Planning Board 
Meeting Minutes from 

Thursday, December 15th, 2022 
Selectboard Meeting Room 

126 Main Street, Ware MA 01082 
 
 

 

Page 7



Planning Board Meeting Minutes from 12/15/2022, Page 2 
 

E. Hancock recused herself and stated she felt the minutes were incomplete, inaccurate and that she had been 
censored and requested that the Planning Board reconsider the approval of them.  
 
Motion to approve the minutes as submitted Withdrawn by N. Talbot. 
 
Motion made by N. Talbot to table the minutes of December 1, 2022  and expand upon the information S. 
Seconded by E. Murphy. 
           
 

R. Starodoj  Aye 
N. Talbot  Aye 
E. Murphy  Aye 
K. Crosby  Absent 
C. DiMarzio  Aye 

Four in favor. One 
Absent Approved 4/0/1. 

  
 

 
 
Approval of the 2023 Planning Board Meeting Schedule 
 
R. Starodoj suggested removing the December 21, 2023 Planning Board Meeting 
 
R. Watchilla explained that he will be out of the office and not present at the February 16, 2023 meeting. 
 
C. DiMarzio presented the affidavit expressing that he reviewed the Bond Construction Permit Hearing. 
 
The Planning Board consented to the meeting schedule. 
 
SP-2022-11/ SPR-2022-04 (Pineapple Express, LLC.) 

 
R. Starodoj read the legal notice 
 
K. Hepburn spoke describing the nature of her business as a Marijuana Delivery establishment. The 
license allows for wholesale cannabis products from manufacturers/ cultivators, warehouse them at their 
location, take online or phone orders and deliver them. K. Hepburn reviewed the materials which were 
submitted which included a security plan that was presented to the Ware Police Department. K. 
Hepburn also introduced the D. Oles from American Alarm and her engineer (Zoom) who could answer 
any questions about the site plan and parking. 
 
Approx 18 daily trips (used the traffic model from the 2016 Taco Bell Study) the total number of trips 
from that plaza was 15,700 trips per day and their business would account for .02% of that. 
 
 
N. Talbot inquired about the number of vehicles. K. Hepburn stated there will be two delivery vans to 
start and maybe adding two more in a year. Each truck would have two drivers, and two individuals 
working in the office.  
 

Page 8



Planning Board Meeting Minutes from 12/15/2022, Page 3 
 

K. Hepburn and the planning board discussed parking arrangements. It was discussed that it may be 
better to have employees park in the front parking area (farthest away from the businesses) which 
would help with traffic in the rear of the building. K. Hepburn stated the back is really for deliveries.  
 
N. Talbot inquired about deliveries. K. Hepburn stated that once established (inventory) would come in 
once or twice a week and that would occur during business hours.  
 
R. Starodoj asked if there was a loading dock in the rear of the building. K. Hepburn stated it was a back 
door. D. Oles added that there aren’t specific regulations through the CCC and the regulations for 
loading/unloading areas would be town specific.  
 
C. DiMarzio asked what the purpose of the vans was. K. Hepburn clarified that they were for delivery to 
the consumer.  
 
N. Talbot asked where the closest similar establishment was. K. Hepburn said at the moment it was in 
Easthampton, MA. 
 
N. Talbot inquired about the number of employees in the building. K. Hepburn answered that by 
regulations there must always be at least two people in the vans during deliveries and one person in the 
office monitoring the GPS. 
 
R. Watchilla recommended sharing the security overlays with the Police Department. 
 
R. Watchilla and K. Hepburn discussed the body cams the delivery drivers would wear and that they are 
required by regulations. 
 
R. Watchilla read a question from the Town Manager noting there was not additional exterior lighting 
and asked if the CCC required additional lighting. K. Hepburn and the board discussed lighting 
requirements. 
 
R. Watchilla read a statement from the Building Commissioner which expressed concern for the traffic in 
the rear of the building due to the traffic of both Pineapple Express and O’Rieley Auto Parts. The board 
discussed the statement and felt it could be added as a condition to revisit if the traffic behind the 
building became problematic or a safety concern. 
 
R. Watchilla reviewed the materials submitted by the applicant.  

o Host Community Agreement* 
o List of abutters 
o Detailed security summary 
o Traffic Memorandum 

*Applicant has certification that it was signed by Board of Selectmen, however, does not have the actual 
signed document (from June 7, 2022). 
 
The board discussed proposing conditions.  C. DiMarzio proposed adding a condition for the safety 
concern for the loading/unloading area in the rear of the building.   
 

Page 9



Planning Board Meeting Minutes from 12/15/2022, Page 4 
 

R. Watchilla discussed the conditions on the Curaleaf decision “The board reserves the right to modify 
the site plan for motor vehicle and pedestrian traffic, including a traffic study six months following the 
opening of the establishment”.  C. DiMarzio said to remove his condition and use the same from 
Curaleaf to keep them consistent. R. Starodoj inquired if these conditions stay with the land or business. 
R. Watchilla clarified that they stay with the business not location. 
 
K. Hepburn asked if it was possible to extend the operating hours. The board discussed operating hours 
and clarified that it was including the times when deliveries could be made.  It was decided 6:00am – 
10:00pm for exterior operations.  
 
E. Hancock stated she would object to having deliveries later in the evening. R. Starodoj stated it was a 
commercial area and the other business have things come in basically 24/7. K. Hepburn stated that 
Domino’s delivers past 8:00pm. R. Starodoj added that it was no unusual for a retail operation. 
 
E. Hancock inquired about the buffer zone for children and discussed the adopted language of the CCC 
and the Ware bylaws.  
 
E. Hancock inquired as to the type of signage that will be used. K. Hepburn answered that there will not 
be exterior signs on the front of the business, there would only be one 12”x12” sign on the back door 
for purposes of deliveries. 
E. Hancock inquired as to how the product does not get into the hands of minors and asked K. Hepburn 
to explain the process. K. Hepburn explained that Drivers Licenses are needed on both ends of the 
ordering process and the drivers must verify the licenses provided at the time of delivery against the 
one used to create the account and verify the signature. There is also a manifest that has to be signed.   
 
N. Talbot asked what the monitoring/audit process was like.  K. Hepburn explained that security 
systems must be tested every 30 days and audited yearly.  D. Oles added that the CCC can also do spot 
checks.  
 
E. Hancock inquired about the types of products being offered.  
 
R. Starodoj inquired about the waste disposal process. K. Hepburn stated they can combine it with 
another substance to render it unusable then store it in a vault until is picked up by a licensed company.  
 
R. Starodoj reviewed the findings 
 
 
 
Motion made by N. Talbot to approve SP-2022-11 (Pineapple Express, LLC.) as proposed.  Seconded by 
E. Hancock  There was no additional discussion.              

R. Starodoj Aye 
N. Talbot Aye 
E. Murphy Absent 
K. Crosby Aye 
C. DiMarzio Aye 
E. Hancock Aye 

Page 10



Planning Board Meeting Minutes from 12/15/2022, Page 5 

Four in favor. One 
Absent Approved 4/0/1. 

Motion made by N. Talbot to approve SPR-2022-04 (Pineapple Express, LLC.) as proposed noting the 
conditions.  Seconded by C. DiMarzio. here was no additional discussion.       

R. Starodoj Aye 
N. Talbot Aye 
E. Murphy Absent 
K. Crosby Aye 
C. DiMarzio Aye 

Four in favor. One 
Absent Approved 4/0/1. 

*E. Hancock voted during the meeting. As per R. Starodoj the vote did not count for the Site Plan
Review.

Public Hearing for Pineapple Express SP-2022-11 & SPR-2022-04 closed at 7:51pm 

Old Business 

The board decided to pass on reviewing the subdivision regulations 

Town Planner Update 

R. Watchilla announced that the Planning Department will provide assistance to the Conservation
Department.

The deadline for the RFQ for Mary Lane was December 15, 2022. There was one applicant, there will be 
public outreach. 

PVPC had submitted their 1st draft for the document on battery storage. R. Watchilla clarified that they 
had consulted with various experts and will be separated into three tiers. 

The board discussed concerns about requirements for the battery storage. C. DiMarzio spoke about 
frontage requirements and how those requirements place the structures within view.  C. DiMarzio and 
R. Watchilla discussed the possibilities of allowing individuals to lease or co-locate on their properties.
The board discussed the different size and types of battery storage units and the stand-alone units.  The
board also discussed E.V. charging stations.

R. Watchilla read through the tiers of batteries.

R. Starodoj discussed megawatt hours and the need for design standards. R. Watchilla stated he would
clarify with the building inspector.

Motion made by N. Talbot to ADJOURN at 8:25. Seconded by C. DiMarzio. There was no additional discussion. 
R. Starodoj Aye 
N. Talbot Aye 

Page 11



Planning Board Meeting Minutes from 12/15/2022, Page 6 

Minutes Approved on: ________________ 

Starodoj  ____________________________ 

Murphy   ____________________________ 

Talbot   ____________________________ 

Crosby   ____________________________ 

DiMarzio ____________________________ 

E. Murphy Absent 
K. Crosby Aye 
C. DiMarzio Aye 

Four in favor. One 
Absent Approved 4/0/1. 

NEXT PLANNING BOARD MEETING DATE: 

Thursday, January 5th, at 7:00pm. 

Minutes from Thursday, December 15th, 2022. 

Respectfully submitted by,  

Kristen Jacobsen 
Administrative Assistant 
Planning & Community Development 

Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



From: Donald Frydryk
To: Watchilla, Robert; "Karen Kiley"
Subject: BOND PUBLIC HEARING 22009
Date: Tuesday, January 3, 2023 2:00:44 PM

CAUTION: This email originated from outside of the Town of Ware organization. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Hi Rob
 
Happy New Year
 
As discussed, we were not able to complete all work required to address comments received at the
public hearing in time for the continued meeting on 1/5/2023 due to the holidays and other time off
for our staff. 
 
As such, we would like to request that the hearing be continued until your next meeting on
1/19/2023 so that we can deliver the requested information prior to this date
 
Thanks for you help
 
Donald J. Frydryk, PE, PLS
SHERMAN & FRYDRYK
A Division of Hancock Associates
P (413) 283-6210 X111
www.shermanfrydryk.com
www.hancockassociates.com

Page 17

mailto:dfrydryk@shermanfrydryk.com
mailto:rwatchilla@townofware.com
mailto:karenhubacz@bondsandandgravel.com
https://nam02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.hancockassociates.com%2F&data=05%7C01%7C%7C0dfee65676d548b72b6008daedbccfd7%7Ca99f616801454bd19935b860f7a7007b%7C1%7C0%7C638083692440297139%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=CMatZzZjUJmAWHCRRUSl2%2Bjm4p6VCYC8m%2B2R6pNoDRA%3D&reserved=0


Working Draft Tuesday, November 29, 2022 

37 

b) In the case of a surety company bond, such an agreement for an extension
shall not be effective until the surety delivers to the Planning Board a
written statement that the surety agrees to the proposed alteration of the
completion schedule and that such alteration shall not relieve or affect the
liability of the surety company.

c) In the case of a covenant, the Board may grant final approval of the
Definitive Plan conditional upon the completion of the construction of all
ways and installation of utilities within specified time period from date of
said covenant. Failure to complete such improvements shall automatically
rescind approval of the plan.

d) Failure to complete all improvements as required by these rules and
regulations within the time allotted shall cause the Planning Board to draw
upon the performance guarantee (surety bond, deposit of money, letter of
credit) in order to complete said improvements and/or schedule a public
hearing in order to rescind approval of the subdivision in accordance with
appropriate sections of MGL c. 41, § 81.

e) If the specified subdivision improvements in accordance with the Rules and
Regulations are not completed within five (5) years of the date of the bond,
deposit of money, lender’s agreement or covenant, the Planning Board may
require an estimate of the costs of the remaining work, increase the amount
of the performance guarantee proportionately, and establish a new date for
completion of said required improvements. Failure of the developer to
complete the improvements within said five (5) year period, or any
extension thereof, shall not relieve the developer from his/her obligation to
pay for increased costs for completing the improvements in excess of
his/her performance guarantee and shall be grounds for rescission of the
approval of the plan pursuant to G.1., Ch.41, Sec. 81 W.

2.4.10 Evidence of Performance and Release/Partial Release of Performance 
Guarantee 

a) Procedures for partial release

The developer may, upon partial completion and installation of required
improvements in a subdivision, the security for the performance of which
was given by bond, deposit of money, letter of credit, or covenant, make
formal application, in writing either by hand delivery or certified mail, to the
Planning Board for partial release of his/her/their performance guarantee, in
accordance with the procedures set forth herein.  It is up to the discretion of

Commented [WR5]: Is there better language that can be 
used here? 

Page 18



Working Draft Tuesday, November 29, 2022 

38 

the Planning Board whether to approve such request. The Planning Board 
may deny, approve or partially approve such request.  The Planning Board 
shall determine/approve the actual dollar amount (where applicable).  The 
Planning Board may require a change in the form/method and amount of 
the Performance Guarantee when a partial release is requested by the 
applicant.   

1. Financial performance guarantee

The amount of such a bond, or deposit of money, or letter of credit
or three-party agreement for lender fund retention held may, from
time to time, be reduced by the Planning Board. The applicant shall
present to the Planning Board a list of all construction items
performed and/or completed, said list to be based on the
subdivision approval, and the subdivision regulations in their
entirety. The amount to be reduced by the Planning Board, after
consultation with the Highway Superintendent, shall be based upon
federal or state prevailing wage construction costs at the time the
application for reduction is made. The Planning Board shall withhold
adequate funds to complete the project, but shall withhold no less
than 20% of the original approved cost estimate. At the completion
of the project (based on a written acceptance from the Planning
Board that the project has been completed) and a one-year warranty
period, the amount withheld shall be released under section
2.4.10.a.

2. Covenant

The developer may request a release of conditions for lots where the
required improvements have been completed for that section of
roadway beginning at any intersection with a Town road and
abutting lots up through the last lot to be released. Lots may only be
released if they abut the functionally (in the opinion of the Planning
Board) completed portion of the road. No partial release from the
covenants will be approved if the total length of roadway, including
a temporary turnaround, abutting said designated lots, exceeds the
Town's maximum allowable length for dead-end streets unless the
Planning Board has already approved within the limits of the
development a dead-end street exceeding said limits. In the absence

Page 19



Working Draft Tuesday, November 29, 2022 

39 

of financial performance guarantees, adequate covenants will be 
held to ensure completion of the project, including record plans, 
street acceptance plans, site inspections, and legal work. In addition, 
a covenant on one lot which can be built on will be held until either 
a) the Town has acceptance all of the Definitive Plan’s roadways a
Town streets, or b) said covenant has been exchanged in lieu of the
cash value (as determined by the Planning Board) of the lot.
Covenant shall be inscribed on the Definitive Plan or in a separate
document referred to on the Plan, and delivered to the Planning
Board.

i. The subdivider may request a Release of lots from covenant,
in exchange for a bond, deposit of money or surety provided
that:

• A revised Construction Cost Estimate (see Section
2.4.8.1.i) for all of the work remaining to be
completed in accordance with the approved plans has
been submitted.

• Lots will be released in area of the subdivision where
all the required improvements have been completed.

• The lots run consecutively and are released on both
sides of the road simultaneously, beginning with the
lots nearest any intersection of the subdivision road
and a Town road.

• The amount of the surety of Bond shall be determined
by the Planning Board, based on the submitted
revised Construction Cost Estimate and their
estimates for constructing the road within existing
approval. The amount of the Surety or Bond shall be
determined on a request-by-request basis, and each
request shall be judged on its own merits.

• The amount of the Surety or bond on existing lots for
which prior Surety or Bond has been given may be
increased by the Planning Board should the specified
Subdivision improvements in accordance with these
rules and regulations not be completed within the
allotted time period as specified and such increase
would take into consideration increased construction
costs.

Page 20



Working Draft Tuesday, November 29, 2022 

40 

• Such a covenant shall be inscribed on the Definitive
Plan or in a separate document referred to on the
Plan, and delivered to the Planning Board.  The
Planning Board shall turn over the covenant to the
Town Counsel who shall review its contents.

3. All requests for a partial release of the performance guarantee must
be accompanied by:

i. A revised Construction Cost Estimate (see Section 2.4.8.1.i)
for all of the work remaining to be completed in accordance
with the approved plans.

ii. A certification from the project’s engineer that all work and
systems have been completed in accordance with the
approved plans and are functioning as designed and
intended.

iii. Proof that all fees to cover inspections for the release of the
performance guarantee have been paid in full by the
applicant.

iv. “As-Built” plans for that portion of the roadway for which a
partial release is being requested.

b) Procedures for full/final release.

The developer may, upon completion and installation of required
improvements in a subdivision, the completion of record plans and street
acceptance plans, as specified in these rules and regulations, and the
completion of a one-year labor and materials warranty period make formal
application, in writing either by hand delivery or certified mail, to the
Planning Board for full release of any outstanding performance guarantee.

1. Before the Planning Board releases the full interest of the Town in
said performance guarantee, the Planning Board shall:

i. Receive a certification from the project’s engineer that all
work and systems have been completed in accordance with
the approved plans and are functioning as designed and
intended.

The sanitary sewer and public water systems must be pressure
tested and videotaped and comply with the municipality’s

Page 21



Working Draft Tuesday, November 29, 2022 

41 

standards.  Documentation of such testing and videotaping 
must be submitted. 

In no instance shall bonding or covenants be released for the 
final road course and sidewalks until said work has withstood 
one full winter season.  Partial or final release for this work 
may be requested of the Planning Board no sooner than April 
1st of the calendar year subsequent to completion of way and 
walks. 

ii. That the streets and drainage system have functioned as
designed and intended and been in use for through one full
winter.

iii. Obtain in writing from the Director of Public Works, or from a
registered professional engineer chosen by the Planning
Board (and paid for by the applicant), a certificate of
statement that all work and systems required by these rules
and regulations has been constructed in conformance with the
approved construction plans. In the case where roadways will
remain under private ownership, the above-mentioned
certificate or statement shall be supplied by the project's
registered professional engineer.

iv. Receive from the applicant written evidence from the electric,
telephone, gas and cable TV companies and all other public
and private utilities stating that their respective underground
systems have been installed and are functioning to their
satisfaction.

v. Receive from the applicant written evidence from a Registered
Land Surveyor that all permanent bounds and monuments on
all street lines and on the lot or lots within the subdivision are
in place and are accurately located in accordance with the
approved Definitive Plan.

vi. Find that all fees to cover inspections for the release of the
performance guarantee have been paid in full by the
applicant.

vii. Obtain from the applicant a set of record “as-built”
construction plans. Approval of said plans by the Planning
Board shall take place after review of the former by the
Director of Public Works.

Page 22



Working Draft Tuesday, November 29, 2022 

42 

viii. Receive from the applicant street acceptance plan or plans
and necessary documents. Said plans and documents, after
approval by the Planning Board and the Director of Public
Works, shall be presented by the Planning Board to the Town
Meeting for a formal street acceptance in accordance with the
Town Street Acceptance Policy.

ix. Copies of all of the recorded lot deeds showing that the
applicant has retained their rights to the subdivision road(s)
right-of-way, or Certification from developer’s lawyer that all
deeds to lots contained phrasing which retained his rights to
the right-of-way(s).

x. All “as-built” Definitive Subdivision Plan information
pertaining to the creation of the lots (including annotation of
frontage, dimensions, acreage, etc.) shall also be submitted in
a digital format acceptable to the Town using drawing
interchange files (AutoCAD compatible files). Horizontal and
vertical control shall have at least two (2) points tied (in feet)
into the most recent Massachusetts State Plane Coordinate
System using municipal GIS monuments stationed throughout
the Town.  Horizontal control shall have a closure of 1:12,000
or better. Vertical control must be of second order D Class 2
accuracy or better and be tied to USGS datum.  All records of
control shall be delivered to and reviewed by the Town.

xi. All “as-built” Definitive Subdivision Plan, Record and Street
Acceptance Plan information shall also be submitted in pdf
and AutoCAD compatible format or in another digital format
acceptable to the Town.

2. If the Planning Board determines that all improvements as shown on
the endorsed definitive plan and all required plans and legal
documents have been completed satisfactorily, it shall release all the
interest of the Town in such performance guarantee and return the
bond to the person who furnished the same, or release the covenant,
by appropriate instrument, duly acknowledged, which may be
recorded.

3. If the Planning Board determines after inspection that said
construction or installation has not been completed, or wherein said
construction or installation fails to comply with these rules and
regulations, the Planning Board shall send by registered mail to the

Page 23



Working Draft Tuesday, November 29, 2022 

43 

applicant and to the Town Clerk the details wherein said 
construction or installation fails to comply with its rules. 

4. The applicant shall have 30 days after receipt of such notice to
correct all problems mentioned in the above. Failure of the applicant
to finish all the necessary work within said 30 days shall cause the
Planning Board to draw upon the bond or deposit of money as
mentioned below.

5. Any such bond may be enforced and any such deposit may be
applied by the Planning Board for the benefit of the Town of Ware,
as provided in MGL c. 41, § 81, upon failure of the performance for
which any bond or deposit was given to the extent of the reasonable
cost to the Town of completing such construction and installation.

2.4.11 Recording of plan 

The developer shall, within 10 days after the definitive plan has been endorsed, 
record said plan, required forms and, whenever applicable, the Planning 
Board's order of conditions, public easements (plans and documents), 
restrictive covenants, master deeds, etc., at the Hampshire County Registry of 
Deeds, and in the case of registered land with the Recorder of the Land Court.  
Within seven (7) days of said recording the applicant shall provide the Board 
with a copy of the Registry’s receipt of said recording including the book, page 
number, and date of recording.  The cost of said recording shall be borne by 
the developer. 

2.4.12 Rescinding Approval of the Plan 

Failure of the applicant to record the Definitive Plan at the Hampshire Country 
Registry of Deeds within six (6) months of its endorsement or to comply with 
the construction schedule of the performance agreement shall constitute 
sufficient cause for the Board to rescind such approval, in accordance with the 
requirements of section 81-W of Chapter 41 of the General Laws as amended. 

2.4.13 Preconstruction Conference 

Prior to commencement of construction, the developer and the contractor 
must meet with the Director of Public Works and other relevant Town officials 
(preferably at a single meeting) to review the subdivision permit and 
conditions. The applicant must provide evidence that all required documents 

Commented [WR6]: Going back to the earlier question, is 
there better language to use here than "rescinding approval 
of the plan"? 

Page 24



Working Draft Tuesday, November 29, 2022 

44 

have been recorded and all required fees paid. Subsequent to said recording 
and prior to any building permit being issued, the project applicant shall file 
within seven calendar days one print of the definitive plan with the Building 
Inspector. Further, in accordance with the statute, where approval with 
covenant is noted thereon, the Inspector shall issue no permit for the 
construction of a building on any lot within the subdivision, except upon 
receipt from the Planning Board of a copy of the certificate of performance 
releasing the lot in question. 

2.4.14 Road Acceptance 

When a road or way in a subdivision has been completed in a manner fulfilling 
the requirements of the Planning Board, the Applicant may request the 
Planning Board or their designee to inspect the road or way in order to give a 
recommendation to Town Meeting, on whether the road or way should be 
accepted.  

Process for road acceptance can be found in the Town of Ware Road 
Acceptance Policy. 

The Planning Board shall require the following information before making a 
recommendation to the Town Meeting: 

a) Two (2) copies of a plan of the road or way "as built," at a scale of one inch
equals forty (1”= 40’) feet to the inch at size 24" x 36". Said plan to show a
center line profile (4 feet per inch on the vertical scale and 40 feet per inch
on a horizontal scale) taken at fifty (50) foot intervals along the road or way
as it has been completed. All utilities, public and private, above and below
grade shall be shown on the plan as they exist. Said plan shall also be
submitted in an electronic format acceptable to the Planning Board.

b) Two (2) copies of the description by metes and bounds of each road and
easement considered for acceptance by the Town. After acceptance by the
Town Meeting of a road or way in an approved subdivision, the "as built"
plan referred to above, the vote of the Town Meeting and the description of
the road or way shall be recorded with the Hampshire County Registry of
Deeds by the Town Clerk.

c) A release of liens under oath from all contractors and subcontractors
approved for work on the road or way, attesting to the fact that all

Commented [WR7]: See earlier question regarding 
generic transfer of title deed for private roadways. 

Page 25



Working Draft Tuesday, November 29, 2022 

45 

payments due them for labor and materials have been received, and that 
payments for all materials have been rendered.  

d) A plan for maintenance of the subdivision right-of-ways, easements, roads,
and sidewalks for the time after acceptance by the Town and continuing for
20 years. The maintenance plan should include provision for the
maintenance of road pavement, sidewalks, soil settling problems, street
sweeping, snowplowing, maintaining vegetative stabilization of all rights-of
way and easements, erosion controls, Fall leaf cleanup, catch basin and
drainage system cleaning and maintenance, all stormwater management
systems, and other provisions as determined to be necessary by the Board.

e) A Roadway Conveyance Plan showing the overall boundary of the proposed
roadway to be conveyed to the Town. This plan must include the bearing
and distance descriptions of the roadway right-of-way.

f) A Roadway Conveyance Instrument prepared by an attorney and in a form
suitable for execution by the Board of Selectmen after acceptance of the
roadway at Town Meeting.  This instrument must include a legal description
of the right-of-way and include reference to any easement documents.

g) An Easement Conveyance Plan showing overall boundary of any proposed
easements to be conveyed to the Town.  This plan must include the bearing
and distance description of the easement tied to the roadway right-of-way.

h) An Easement Conveyance Instrument prepared by an attorney and in a form
suitable for execution by the Board of Selectmen after acceptance of the
easement at Town Meeting.  This instrument must include a legal
description of the easement as well as a description of the Town’s rights
within the easement

Page 26



Page 27



Page 28



Page 29



Page 30



Page 31



Page 32



Page 33



Town Planner Update: January 5th, 2023 
• The Town has received one proposal from a firm interested in the Mary Lane Hospital

Adaptive Re-Use and Feasibility Study
• The new LED Message sign has been fully installed at the Casino Lot

o The sign will be powered on early next week.
o It will display messages from the Town, announcements, and dates/times of

scheduled events.

Page 34


	1-5-23  PB Agenda Stamped
	12-1-22 PB Minutes draft - Ammended
	13
	TOWN OF WARE

	12-15-22 PB Minutes draft
	13
	TOWN OF WARE

	Strawberry Fields MOD Legal Notice Stamped
	Modification App and Right of Way
	Proposed ANR Plans
	BOND PUBLIC HEARING  22009
	12-15-22 PB Meeting Packet
	12-15- PB Agenda Stamped
	12-1-22 PB Minutes draft
	13
	TOWN OF WARE

	PB Meeting Dates 2023
	Town of Ware

	SP-2022-11 & SPR-2022-04 Legal Notice
	Permit Summary Report to PB
	Town of Ware

	SP-2022-11 Application
	SPR-2022-04 Application
	Landowner Authorization Form
	Security Plan Summary
	Traffic Memo
	12-1-22 PB Meeting Packet
	Subdivision Regulations - Rough Draft

	Update 12-15-22

	Campbell- Osborne Rd
	Update 1-5-23



